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carving has been pronounced by competent judges to be excellent, the 
work indeed of a skilful artist. It remains as one of the most beautiful 
of the Church 's possessions. 

By the death of our great and gracious Queen Victoria , of blessed 
memory, on the 22nd January, 1901, a heavy bereavement befell the 
people of this island and empire; in accordance with all the Churches 
in the Anglican Communion, special Memorial Services were held in 
the three Churches of the Parish on Saturday, 2nd February. At the 
Service in Stocksbridge Church the congregation was the largest on 
record. 

The Census returns for 1901 show some interesting figures of the 
incre ase in the population of the Parish, which had grown from 1,904 
in 1862-the year in which Canon Wilson came as Curate- to 5,349 in 
1901. 

The people of Deepcar held a Jumble Sale in connection with their 
Church on Saturday, February 9th, by which they raised the sum of 
£42 ISs. 6d. towards Sunday School and Wardens' Funds. 

In April, of this same year, a public meeting was held at Deepcar 
National School to consider the best means that should be taken to 
provide the Church at Deepcar with a suitable Organ. A fund was 
immediately opened and a bazaar agreed upon for the following year. 
In the course of the next few months the sum of £38 was received in 
subscriptions towards this purpose. 

None of those who worshipped m Bolsterstone Church on Sunday, 
January 5th, 1902, and heard the Vicar's New Year's message of hope 
and calm confidence in God's over-ruling guidance for the future, 
could have dreamed how soon he was himself to undergo the bitter ex­
perience of being called upon to mourn the double loss of his dear wife, 
to whom he had been married for nearly 37 years, who was taken from 
him after a short illness on January 21st, and his brother, with whom 
he had been closely associated ever since they were little boys together 
in the home of their childhood, who on the 3rd of February was also 
taken away. It is the bare truth to say that for Canon Wilson, in the 
death of his wife, a light passed for ever from the earth, and by the loss 
of his brother, he was virtually deprived of a support upon which he 
had been accustomed to lean in all the vicissitudes of his ministerial 
life. Although the Vicar held on to his post and took up his work 
amongst his people, he never was the same man afterwards, his hopes 
a nd aspirations were with those he loved, beyond the grave. 

Mrs. Wilson was beloved by all who knew her, on account of her 
a ffecti onate and sympathetic nature, and her loss was felt by all the 
parishioners of Bolsterstone and neighbourhood, who ever felt that in 
her they had a kind and sincere friend. 

By the death of Mr. Charles Macro Wilson on February 3rd, not 
o nly did the Vicar sustain a further loss, but the Church in this Parish 
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lost a most liberal supporter. Mr. Macro \\'i lsou was widd,· kno-: 
in South Yorl<shire for h is kindnes~ and generosity, bis ~bi lity •~ 
business affairs, and, abo,·e oil for the high moral standard which :0'­
life set before hi> fellow·tuen. He took an ncti\·e and lo,·iog intere-_ 
in Church matters, holdiug the office of Churchwarden for some 3; 
yea rs, and Liceu<ed Lay Reader for upwards of 30 years, while :~ 
pages of this" Memoir .. abundantly testif> to his unbounded genero, !:;_ 

Later in the year, the >ndden and <eriOL" illness of Kiug Ed w:.oc. 
\'II., just as all amaugernents for the Corouatiot> were on the e,·e -< 
romple:tion~ threw the whole country into a state of anxiety and ala:-:r 
Certain of the festi\' illes in this pu"h in connection with the Coronauo:: 
were •o far ad,·ancrd, that it wa. fo und impo<.<ihle to postpone the-. 
so ou Thursday, June 26th, the Bolsters tone, l>eepcar and Stockshnd::= 
Sunday School children, numbering O\'er 1,100, through the kiudo~~, 
of ~l essr,. S. Fox & Co .. wert gh·en tea. 

On the 9th of Augu>t, when the Coronation of King Edward\'! ;­
and Queen Alexandra actually took place, a special service was held i:: 
all the three Churches of the Pari>h, the children attending the Sunda: 
Schools were presented with medals, teas were pro,-ided for the age-r 
inhabitants of the d istrict, and the day conduded with a brilliant torct . 

. light tatoo which took place on th e villnge g-reen. After paying :t.. 

~xpenses iu conuection with the Coronation Tea and Festh·ities, 
balance of £5 13s. 7d. wn' left. It was decided tha t thi s amount shoul" 
be given to the completion of the Bolsterstone Organ. 

On Saturday, September 20th, Mrs. Hay ne, who had worked i.r. 
many years on the parochinl "talf, en tered into rest. Her body wa­
laid in Lincoh1 Cemeter)·· 

The Bazaar to hel p to provide fun ds for an Org-an for Deepca= 
Church took p lace in the IJeepcor National School on Friday anc 
Saturday, October 24th and 25th. Some 18 months had been spent ir. 
its preparatiou, so tlull when the or:>ening day arrived, no less than sevf:­
largc: ~tal l ~ wc1-c lv .. tdcd with u:\cfu l uud ornculcutcl artlclc!:l £ot ::-.a:c: 
Since the inauguration of the scheme about £130 had been collect~d b~ 
teas, concert:-, and lu sub!'lcriptions : it wn~ estim:1 t~d that an additiona~ 
£170 wa!'o required. The: BazaBr prO\'td !ln immense success, result1n; 
in a net balance to be put to th~ Organ accou nt of no less tbao £21~ 
5s. 4d. Tbi~ sum, togeth.r with the subscriptions alreody recem•C. 
raiser! the total to £242 5>. Od. which wns paid into the Bank := 
Sheffield. 

On Sunday, january 4th, a fir~ broke out in the roof of Deeper 
Church, iu the early part of the afternoon. Flames and smote wee= 
seen issuiug through the t1lt~ on the rid;:e, attrac1ing the attt-nuon of.:. 
band of helpers, by who>e prompt action the fire was soon brought unde­
control. Lattr on, the fire brigade rendered valuable assis tance. a..C 
the fire was totall) extingubhed. After the damage done by the ii~• 
to the roof had been repa ired by the ino;urance money, it "-as focX. 
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necessary to thoroughly clean the whole building inside. This work 
involved an additional cost of £40. 

Early in January, 1903, the Revd. W. W. Noble who had been 
Curate at Deepcar for just two years, left the parish and removed to 
London. He was succeeded by the Revd. W. Cyril Edgington, who in 
March 1901 had been ordained to the Junior Curacy at the Parish 
Church. 

It is worthy of note that the Right Reverend Dr. Quirk, first 
Bishop Suffragan of Sheffield, held a confirmation in Bolsterstone 
Parish Church on · Tuesday, Fehruary 25th, of this year. It was the 
Bishop's first visit to the parish, which he subsequently visited several 
times and in which he took a deep interest, and it may not be injudicious 
to record, that the boundaries of the proposed new Parish of Stocks· 
bridge were motored over by the Bishop in January 1914, and plans 
drawn to embody his wishes were submitted to the Archbishop of 
York by him, and approved by His Grace. These are the same plans 
which the 1st Diocesan Bishop of Sheffield adopted. 

To commemorate the Vicar's 40 years ministry in the parish ( 1862-
1902) a cheque for £200 and a book containing the signatures of 1,000 
parishioners was banded to Canon Wilson, at a large gathering of 
parishioners in Bolsterstone National School on Monday evening, April 
27th. The Presentation was made by R. H. Rimmington Wilson, Esq. 
The money had been subscribed with the object of providing a suitable 
and permanent memorial of the respect, affection and appreciation in 
which the Vicar was held by his parishioners. Canon Wilson decided 
to erect new Oak Choir Stalls and Prayer Desks to be placed in the 
Chancel of the Parish Church. 

The promotors of the Sale of Work and Jumble Sale which took 
place in the Stocksbridge National School on Saturday, May 16th, in 
aid of providing conveniences and appliances for sick people will be 
glad to know that the Invalid Chair they bought bas been an inestim­
able boon to many aged persons, and especially to those who have lost 
a limb or limbs through accidents. The chair is still in use. 

A Brass Tablet, subscribed for by the Mothers and other of her 
friends, was erected in Stocksbridge Church on Easter Eve to the 
memory of Mrs. Hayne, who had been for 18 years a faithful worker 
in this parish. 

In July, the Revd. G. K. Cassels, who had been Curate for nearly 
nine years, left the parish to enter upon his duties as Vicar of Old 
Warden, near Bigglesnade, Bedfordshire, to which living he bad been 
preferred by Colonel Shuttleworth. Before leaving the parish Mr. 
Cassels was presented with a purse containing £54. Mrs. Cassels also 
received a presentation. This vacancy in the clerical staff necessitated 
a further change, which was met by the promotion of the Revd. W. 
Cyril Edgington to Stocksbridge, whilst the Revd. F. A. Stebbing was 
ordained to Deepcar and the Revd. J. C. Garlike to Bolsterstone, at the 
September ordination of the Lord Archbishop of York. 
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In October of this year, a site for a Rifle Range was obtained on 
Townend Common, which, after inspection, was approved and passed 
for 25, 50 and 100 yards firing. A Rifle Club was formed and affi liated 
to the National Rifle Association. The club still exists in a n:IT 

flourishing condition, it has trained some excellent shots and sen ~ 
large proportion of its members to the colours. 

Before the year had run its course, the ' new Organ, built by ~Ir. 
Albert Keats, of Sheffield, at a cost of £335, was dedicated by the L oY' 
Bishop of Sheffield on Wednesday, November 25th, when an organ 
recital was given by Mr. Phillips, Organist of S. Mary's Church, who 
drew up the specifications. The offertories at the opening service 

. _amounted to £16 7s. 2!d., thus making a total income from all sources 
of £370 12s. 6td., and a total expenditure of £354 14s. 9d., leaving a 
balance of £15 17s. 9td. in the Bank to the credit of the fund. 

The last effort of the year was a Jumble Sale held at Deepcar o 
Saturday, December 21st, to liquidate the debt on the Wardens' AccounG 
in consequence of the fire which occurred at the Church early in the 
year. The net proceeds amounted to £42 Is . Sd. 

At the Confirmation, held iu the Parish Church on March 23rd 
1904, the Lord Bishop of Sheffield dedicated the Oak Prayer Desk and 
Choir Stalls, which were erected to commemorate the Vicar's 40 year·­
ministry at Bolsterstone. The sermon at the evening Service was· 
preached by the Revd. J. A. Wilson, Rector of Bolton-by-Bolland and 
Canon of Ripon. 

The honour of being the first to win an N .R.A. Rifleman's Certifi­
cate in our Club fell to Mr. H. Crossland, who, on August lOth, 1904. 
scored a total of 123 points, made up as follows :-50 yards; 87 points ; 
50 yards, 43 points; 100 yards, 43 points. These were made in 30 sho 
The N.R.A. requires 114 points in 30 shots for a Rifleman's Certificate.. 

In the year 1904 the Education Act of 1902 came into force in the 
West Riding of Yorkshire, and it was not long before the Authori ty a::. 
Wakefield came down on us for structural alterations to our Schoo: 
premises. The first demands were made in connection with Stocks­
bridge Nat ional School. Here, the managers were required to build 
new girl's and infant's cloak room, install a new heating apparatu 
make alterations and additions to the offices, and incur liabilities whic' 
it was estimated would take £300 to meet. Accordingly, a meeting o 
Stocksbridge Church supporters was held in the National School o 
Tuesday, July 11th, 1905, when it was decided to set to work at once 
to provide a bazaar to meet the surn of money required. 

As it was now a hundred vears since the first Sundav School was 
started at Bolsterst~ne, speciai Centenary Celebration S~rvices "'e., 

held in Bolsterstone Church on Sunday, August 27th, 1905. I n 
aftemoon a Special Service was held in Stocksbridge Church, at -
o'clock, for the members of the Deepcar and Stocksbridge Sun· 
Schools. The sermon was preached by the Revd. R. A. Wilson, \'i~ 

. of Hints. 
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It may not be out of place here to allude to the Whitsuntide Festi­
val of the Sunday Schools·. When the Vicar came first to the Parish 
there '>vas a Sunday School at Bolsterstone and Deepcai-, but not at 
Stocksbridge. The school was first opened there in a room at the back 
of the "Coach and Horses" Inn it1 1866. On Sunday morning the 
schola1·s from Deepcar Sunday Schooi were marched up to Bolsterstone 
to the Church Service, which included morning prayer, litany, ante­
communion, and sermon, and as the Sunday School commenced at 9 
o 'clock and the Service. at the Parish Church concluded at about 
quarter before one, the Deepcar Sunday Scholars were well provided 
with spiritual food ; but tl1ese were tlie good old days. 

The \\l hitsuntide Festival, as it was celebrated for :~9 years, was 
established by Canon 'Nilson in 1867. It began with a service for the 
Sunday School Teachers and Scholars from all three schools, on Whit­
Sunday afternoon in the Bolsterstone Parish Church. On the following 
day, \Vhit- Monday, the scholars . assembled at their respective schools 
at 8 a.m. and proceeded to Deepcar, when three hymns were sung on 
the village open space. A procession of all the Sunday Scholars, headed 
by the Stocksbridge Brass Band was then formed, and with banners 
borne, and flags fl.ymg, four abreast, the scholars marched to Stocks­
bridge, where a halt was made in the School Yard for three more hymns 
to be sung. On re-forming, the route lay through Stocksbridge, up 
Hoyle House Lane, along Low Laue and Bracken Moor to the road 
above the husk where lunch was provided, then by Coal Pit Lane and 
Stone Moor to Bolsterstone, where three hymns were sung . on the 
Yillage green. 

After the singing at Bolsterstone, a service was held in the Parish 
Church to which the children were taken. Tea was provided for the 
scholars iu their schools and games and sports held in a field at the 
Royd. 

Such was the order of procedure up to 1905; however, in the 
following year and subsequently, the service in Church on Whit-Monday 
was dropped, though in all other particulars the proceedings were 
carried out as in former years. The last occasion on which Canon 
\Vilson was present, was at the Whitsuntide of 1914. He preached as 
usual at the Whit-Sunday afternoon service and accompanied the 
children on Whit-Monday. It was the 48th time on which the Whit­
suntide Festival as instituted by the Vicar was celebrated, and in all 
that long period, the procession had never once been abandoned through 
inclement weather. It may be stated that the hymns sung at Whitsun­
tide and afterwards at the Sunday School Festivals, were a collection 
of nine hymns with tunes, specially selected and arranged for the 
purpose. 

In the year 1905, the Organ in Bolsterstone was completed by the 
addition of certain stops which had been omitted when it was built in 
1885. The original cost was £275 which was brought up to £354 for 
the complete organ. The new stops were provided by subscriptions 
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and collections which amounted to £91. The re opening took place o::~ 
Sunday, September 24th, the preacher being the Revd. Clement E. 
Wilson, Assistant Curate of Rugby. 

During the year a Carved Oak Cover was presented to the Paris:i 
Church to be placed upon the Font. 

As the Education Act of 1902 was provoking a good deal of hostile 
criticism in this neighbourhood, especially through the overbearin 
attitude adopted by the West Riding Education Committee in dealinu 
with Church Schools, a public meeting, for the purpose of giving paren 
an opportunity of hearing the proposals of the Bill explained at length 
and in detail, was held in Bolsterstone National School on Tuesday_ 
May 22nd, 1906. The Vicar presided, and the Revd. C. M. Potts, Yica:­
of Monk Britto11, addressed the meeting, a full report of whose speed: 
is contained in the June Magazine of 1906. It is not necessary in th is 
"Memoir " to go over the arguments then adduced, but there are cer­
tain facts which most certainly, in our opinion, ought not to be lo;:;: 
sight of. The Vicar said since 1851 no less a sum than £20,000 had 
been spent in building and maintaining the National Schools of Bolster­
stone, Deepcar, and Stocksbridge. In effect, this meant that whereas 
since 1876, School Boards, with ever increasing expenditure, had gro 
up in almost eve.ry part of England, here, in this Parish, the SchO<h 
Boards had been kept out, and the ratepayers saved from contributin 
a penny for the Education of their children. 

There was another point which concerns the Trust Deeds, i:: 
which it was laid down (i) that the Schools were built for the expre:ss 
purpose of religio.us teaching, and (ii) that such teaching was to be 
carried on in connection with the Church of England , and (iii) to 0.: 
strictly teaching in the principles and doctrines of the Church 0: 
England. 

The Bazaar, to raise money necessary for the alterations and addi­
tions to Stocksbridge National School, took place on Friday and Satn:-­
day, October 5th and 5th, 1906. The sales realized £273 3. 9d. an.d 
subscriptions receive<i amounted to £62 12s. Od., from which sn~-:.. 
when expenses of £12 19s. Od. were deducted, there remained a balance 
of £322 19s. 4d. Sixteen months had been spent in preparation for th:3 
bazaar, during which, teas , galas, concerts, suppers, and dances 'IVeR: 

some of the means resorted to for the purpose of raising the money. 

In the autumn of this year the Stocks and Whipping Post in 
sterstone Village were enclosed within iron railing, for their pres~ 
tion. In order to represent how the Stocks appeared when used -
former days a plank of oak was inserted between the upright ._ 
posts with hollows to correspond with those in the lower horizo:::l::E.. 
stone, an iron padlock of antique design was also added. 

The year, however, did not pass without bringing a sad loss u_ 
the Parish and neighbourhood in the death of Mrs. Rimingtou \Y' 
which occured at Broomhead Hall on Friday, November 9th, in :=r 
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83rd year of her age. During the many years of her residence at 
Broomhead Hall she was always held in the highest regard by all who 
knew her, and those who, in times of sorrow and tronble, went to seek 
her aid never went to seek it in vain . 

The scheme for creating a Diocese of South Yorkshire, carved out 
of the Diocese of York with a ?mall portion of Southwell, having a 
Bishop's seat at Sheffield, took definite shape in the year 1907. The laity 
subsc-ribed so Yery generously to the fund opened for the endowment 
of the See that, by the end of the year, the sum of nearly £28,000 bad 
been obtained. The gentry in the Rural Deanery of Ecclesfield gave 
handsomely to the fund. 

Our Parish Magazine, which on January 1st, 1908, entered upon 
the 38th year of its existence, appeared in a new cover, with pictures of 
our three Churches at Bolsterstone, Det>pcar, and Stocksbridge upon it. 

A very successful Sale of \Vork and Jumble Mart was held in 
Deepcar Church on Saturday, February 29th, 1908. Its object was to 
provide the Church at Deepcar with a new heating apparatus. Mrs. 
joseph Dixon, of Spring Grove, Oughtibridge, kindly performed the 
opening ceremony. After the Sale was over it was announced that 
£116 7s. 3d. had been taken, after deducting expenses, the balance of. 
£113 12s. lid. remained, which was more than sufficient to meet the 
cost of the beating apparatus. 

To give all Church people an opportunity of contributing to the 
Shffield Bishopric Scheme, collections were taken in all the Churches 
throughout the proposed Diocesan area on Sunday, May lOth. In this 
Parish the sum of £II 14s. Od. was contributed in this way for the 
fund, thus bringing the total sum sent from Bolsterstone, inclusive of 
subscriptions, to close upon £100. 

In the summer of 1908, Dr. Maclagan, Lord Archbishop of York, 
at the advanced age of 82 years, found it necessary to retire from the 
important position he had held amongst the people of Yorkshire for 
more than 17 years . His Grace had once visited Bolsterstone, on 
Saturday, 1st October, 1892, when he dedicated the new peal of eight 
bells, started by electricity the new clock, and also dedicated the new 
font and oak tower screen. 

Canon Wilson and the Arch bishop were close personal friends and 
his departure from the Diocese severed another and close link with the 
past. The Right Reverend Dr. Lang, Bishop Suffragan of Stepney, was 
appointed tc succeed Dr. Maclagan. The new Archbishop made the 
fifth under whom it was the Vicar's privilege to serve. 

Returning to purely parochial matters, we record with deep regret 
the death, on Saturday, June 27th, of George Sandersori, who had 
been Sexton of Bolsters tone for more than 30-years, and had faithfully 
discharged the duties pertaining to that office. He had buried no less 
than 3,112 persons, whose names are in the Parish Register. In 
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December of this year the death occurred also of Mr. William Mitchell, 
who had formerly been Master of the Bolsterstone National School for 
33 years. Mr. Mitchell retired in December 1886, and went to live with 
his son-in-law. He enjoyed excellent health right up to the time of his 
death, which was caused by a sudden seizure which took him as he 
knelt to say hi ~ morning prayer on Friday, 11 th December. He never 
regained consciousness, and passed peacefully away on T uesday, 15th 
December, in the 86th year of hi s age. 

We had scarcely got used to .the ne_w date of 1909 when )I rs. 
Macro Wilson, on February 16th, met with a terrible acciden a Deep­
car Station. She had been to Barnsley to open a Bazaar and had 
reached Deepcar by an early evening train, when , owing to the da.daless 
of the night, Mrs. Macro mistook the opening on the opposi e side of 
the platform for the gateway leading to the station entrance, she fell on 
the rails of a siding and sustained serious injuries to her back.. It 
was not at first thought, nor indeed for some weeks aftenvards. tha the 
accident would prove fatal, such, however, was the case, and aftergrea 
suffering, heroically borne, Mrs. Macro passed away on Sunday morn­
ing, April lOth, 1909. It is not too much to say that there ne,·er li¥ed 
a more kind-hearted, compassionate, and chantable lady in this neigh ­
bourhood. She kept an open purse for the s ick, the poor, and the 
distressed, she was a generous supporter of many Diocesan and County 
Charitable Societies, and the writer of this "Memoir," never knew a 
time when Mrs. Macro Wilson was not working for a bazaar in connec­
tion with some Church or Charity Organization. 

We had scarcely recovered from the shock of Mrs. Macro Wilson 's 
death, when, by the sudden and unexpected death of Mr. J. W. Faw­
cett, a heavy blow was struck at the Churches of Deepcar and Stocks­
bridge. Mr. Fawcett died of pneumonia, after a very short illness, on 
June 24th. He had been for 17 years choirmaster at Deepcar and Stocks­
bridge Churches. Day after day, for many years, he rose at five o'clock 
and worked practically till midnight in a way which few men even under­
stand. Hi~ death was a loss to the community, and to-day, six years 
after his decease, his whole place is yet to fill, not as choirmaster, but 
as the one man who created, trained, and matured the musical tastes 
of the district. 

An oak eagle Lectern was placed in Deepcar Church, and a carved 
oak spiral Font Cover in Stocks bridge Church as memorials to Mr. J. W. 
Fawcett. They were provided by public subscriptions. Mr. Joshua 
Pyrah, who bad been head master of the Deepcar National School since 
1892, was appointed to succeed Mr. Fawcett as choirmas ter at Deepcar 
Church. 

In the autumn of 1909 the Vicar left the vicarage, in which be had 
lived for 42 years, to reside at \Valdershaigh, a property which he 
inherited from his brother Mr. C. Macro Wilson. 
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The great events of 1910 were the Death of King Edward VII. 
and the Accession of King George V. At the hour of the Royal 
Funeral, memorial services were held in the Boh;terstone, Deepcar and 
Stockshridge Churches 011 Friday, May 20th. 

On the day of the Coro11ation of King George V. and Quee11 Mary 
in 1911, the programme carried out on the occasion of Ki11g Edward 
VII's Coronation was followed, except that there took place in the 
afternoon a combi11ed procession of Sunday School Scholars, headed by 
the Stocksbridge Old Brass Band and the members of the Urban 
District Council. 

The object of the procession was to celebrate the presentation to 
the Council, by Mr. W. H. Fox, of a piece of land known as the Clough, 
for the purpose of a parish recreation ground, and henceforth to be 
named " Fox Glen." A short dedication service, conducted by the 
Vicar, was held in the Cricket Field. 

New Carved Oak Choir Stalls, at the cost of £32, were set up in 
the Chancel of Stocksbridge Church and dedicated by the Bishop of 
Sheffield on Monday, December 11th. 

During the year, Messrs. S. Fox & Co., laid down a gas main as 
far as the village of Bolsterstone, and after due consideration it was 
decided to use gas in the Church instead of lamps for lighting purposes. 
The Church was first lighted with gas on Sunday, December lOth, 1911. 

The only other event of auy great importance was the Bazaar which 
took place at Stocksbridge on Saturday, October 28th, and Mouday, 
October 30th, in aid of the new Infants' department which had been 
added to our National School at Stocksbridge. 

For the past two years the West Riding Education Committee had 
been urging the managers to build an entirely new Infants' School, and 
after many plans had been prepared, one was at last accepted and a 
school capable of accommodating 92 Infants was built in the summer 
of 1911, by which additiou the accommodation for Infants was brought 
up to 143 and the total accommodation in all departments to 383. 

This effort was a costly one, seeing that it was estimated that a 
sum of £550 would be necessary to build and equip the school. However, 
by means of subscriptions, teas, concerts, galas and the inevitable 
bazaar, the sum of £513 14s. ld. was raised. 

It must be admitted that the Stocksbridge people had acted with 
great generosity in undertaking a second bazaar for their school with­
in a period of 5 years. 

The building, maintenance and constant additions a11d alterations 
to the National Schools had been for Canon Wilson a great struggle, 
but he pursued it to the end, and never once contemplated surrender­
ing them to the County Council. 

• 



32 

As became the Parish of which the Rural Dean was Vicar, we 
were the first in this Deanery to hold a meeting to protest against the 
proposals for the Disestablishmem and Disendowment of the Church 
in Wales. Our meeting took place on Monday, March lith, 1912, and 
was addressed by Mr. Claude Leatham, of Wakefield. A resolution of 
protest was carried and a largely signed memorial in due course sent to 
the Prime Minister. 

A Lodge in association with the Church Benefit Society was 
established in Stocksbridge in connection with the Bible Class, and 
formally opened on August 21st. . 

In ,-September, Mr. John Booth, who was Churchwarden at Deep­
car for a number of years, and always took a deep interest in its wel­
fare, was called to his rest. 

The Church at Deepcar underwent a thorough cleaning and dis­
tempering inside, and painting outside, during the months of October 
and November. 

A new Altar Cover, Hangings, etc., and a new Carpet for the 
Church were bought, to meet the cost of which a Sale of Work took 
place in the previous July and realized the sum of £49 Os. Od. , a tea 
was subsequently held from which £4 lOs. lOd. was derived, so th at 
from both sources just enough money, £53 lOs. lOd. was obtained. 

In January of the following year, 1913, the resignation, through 
ill health, of Miss Bratt, who had been for 25 years Head Mistress of 
the Infants' School, Bolsterstone, took effect. To mark the affection 
and esteem in which she was held, a purse of gold containing £22 lOs., 
a Bureau Bookcase, and a Framed Address were presented to her on 
January 27th, by Mr. H. Steel, on behalf of the subscribers. 

The year 1913 saw the commencent of the two new Reservoirs by 
the Sheffield Corporation, in the Ewden Valley. For many years the 
land had b<:en marked out with railings and there were those who had 
began to think that work 'vould have been deferred for some time 
longer. In consequence of the making of these reservoirs the population 
was increased by the introduction of some 600 to 700 navies and their 
families. As the work was estimated to last about 10 years, a very 
beautiful model village was erected to accommodate the work people 
in the Ewden Valley. 

The Church in Stocksbridge sustained a triple loss in the resignD.­
tion, on his departure to Sheffield, of Mr. W. H. Robinson, who suc­
ceeded Mr. J. W. Fawcett as Choirmaster, and in the emigration to 
Australia of Miss Helen Burrel, who was one of the most generous 
supporters of the Church, and also in the loss of Mr. A. C. Chapman, 
People's Warden, who left this parish for Australia early in the follow­
ing year. 

• 
-----



33 

Passing to the last year of Canon Wilson's life, 1914, we find in 
the Vicar's annual New Year's letter a reference to the new Diocese 
<>f Sheffield, which was established early in the year, and in whose 
Cathedral Church of Sheffield the first Bishop, Dr. Leonard Hedley 
Burrows, was enthroned on May Day. The new Diocese contains 116 
Benefices, and is served by 270 Clergy, its total population may be 
roughly taken as between 820,000 and I ,000,000, and its chief towns 
are Sheffield, Rotherham and Goole. 

In the month of June, Mrs. Stebbing, the wife of the Rev. F. A. 
Stebbing, Curate-in-charge of Deepcar, entered into rest, at the Clergy 
House, Deepcar. She had borne with wonderful patience and forbear­
ance a long and trying illness. She was a loss, not only to Deepcar, 
but also to the whole parish. No higher tribute can be paid to her than 
to say that she gave her life for the gqod of others. 

The Stocksbridge Church people had taken the first steps in an· 
effort to raise £I 00 for the cleaning of the Church and other necessary 
repairs, when the great War broke out in August and thus put a stop 
to further endeavour. 

From the first a -vigorous recruiting campaign to meet Lord 
Kitcbener's appeal for men, was initiated at Stocksbridge by the Church 
authorities. A form of declaration in the following terms was issued 
on August 6th. 

"We, the undersigned, solemnly pledge ourselves to enlist in 
any Battalion of the Territorial Forces of the Crown and to serve 
either at home or abroad until such tim e as our services are no . 
longer required. " 

By the 11th of the month, sixty-five men had appended their names 
to the declaration. 

It was then known that precedence was to be given to the new 
Army over the Territorial Units, and so on the 13th of August the first 
contingent of recruits for" Kitchener's Army" was taken to S. George's 
Terrace, Sheffield, for enlistment. Since then the work has continued, 
three special recruiting meetings have been held in the parish, and the 
total number of reservists and recruits from here will now be not far 
short of 400. 

For the purpose of supplying the soldiers with shirts, socks, knitted 
belts, helmets and mittens, working parties were commenced in con­
nection with the three Churches in the parish. From these sources, as 
well as from the Primrose League and the Stocksbridge Church 
Mother's Meeting, an effort has been made to provide every man in the 
army from this parish with a parcel containing a shirt, two pairs of 
socks and a belt, muffler or helmet. From the numerous letters which 
the soldiers have written expressing their thanks, we are assured that 
these working parties of Ladies have been the means of supplying a 
real want in the soldier's life. 
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Canon Wilson took the keenest interest in the progress of recruit­
ing and in the efforts of the ·Ladies of the parish in the matter to which 
reference has already been made. 

On All Saints' Day, November 1st-the 24th Anniversary of the 
Consecration of Stocksbridge Church-the Vicar attended the morning 
service at Bolsterstone and made his last communion in the Church he 
had loved and ministered in for so many years. 

It was obvious to all that he was ill and really ought not to have 
been out of his home. However, it was not until the following 
Tuesday, November 3rd, that he took to his bed. His illness deepened 
into ~d~ath which took place quite peacefully on Thursday evening, 
November 26th, 1914. He was buried at Bolsterstone on Monday, 
November 30th, in the same grave in which his wife had been laid 
12 years previously. The service, which was fully choral, was taken 
by the three assistant Clergy and by the Lord Bishop of Sheffield, who 
recited the committal prayer and gave the Benediction. The Choir of 
the Parish Church was augmented by representative from the Choirs 
of Deepcar and Stocksbridge Churches. In the Church the 90th 
Psalm was chanted and hymn 499 "on the Resurrection Morning " 
was sung. As the choir filed down the aisle of the Church after the 
Collect, the Nunc-Dimittis was sung, while at the grave side the hymn 
was "Lo! round the throne of God." Amongst the Clergy who attended 
the funeral were Canon Gilmour, Rural Dean of Sheffield, Canon 
Houghton, representing the Dean and Chapter of York, Canon 
Macnaghten of Tankersley, The Rural Dean of Ecclesfield, the Vicar 
of Penistone and several other Sheffield and local Clergy, amongst whom 
were three of the Canon's former Curates. Of the laity, practically every 
Church official was present. 

In the long list of Clergy who have served the Parish and Church 
of S. Mary's, Bolsterstone, since 1412, there are the names of three in­
cumbents whose ministry extended over 40 years, viz.: the Revd. 
Francis Haigh (1728 to 1777) 48 years; the Revd. Thomas Bland, who 
was Curate to Mr. Haigh, 1772 to 1777, after which he became In­
cumbent, and died 1818, having completed a ministry of 46 years; and 
the subject of this memoir who came as Curate in 1862, was appointed 
Vicar in 1867 and died in 1914. The list contains no greater name 
than his. 
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The following is a list of Licensed Curates who 'served in the 
Parish of Bo1sterstone during Canon Wilson's incumbency:-

REV. PETER WARBURTON 

REV. R. S. HASSARD 

REV. E . w. HOBSON 

REV. C . P . HUTCHINSON •.• 

REV. c. B. SIMPSON 

R EV. F . A. SMITH 

REV. A. M. WINTER 

REV. A. J. W. HILEY 

REv. T. P. WoRRALL 

REV. A. E . HALL 

REV. C. M . PoTTs 

REV. M. c. WELLS L' 

REv. A. E. BoDEN 

REV. G. K. CASSELS 

REv. H. T. ADAMs 

REv. F . D. Buu.ocK 
....... :.... . 

REV. w. c. EDGINGTON •. • 

R EV. W. W. NOBLE 

REV. F . A .' STEBBING 

REV. J. C : GARLIKE 

REV. C. W. B. HASLAM 

REv. G. V. CoTTON 

REv. F. J. 0 KELL 

... 

... 

1868-1871. 

187 1-1872. 

> 1874-1 877. 

1875-1878 . 

1878- 1881. 

1880-1882. 

1881-1894. 

1882-1884. 

... 1884-1885 . 

1885-1886. 

1886-1897. 

1891 - 1893. 

1894-1897. 

1894-1903. 

1897-1900 . 

1898-1900. 

1900 

1901-1902. 

1903 

1903-1906. 

1907-1909. 

1909-1914. 

1914 . 

,' 

' . 

.. · 

... 
' 
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We append some statistics of Parochial Work:-

CONFIRMATIONS. 
- · ··-_,......_ 

During the period 1868 to 1914, confirmations were held every 
year (except in 1873 and 1876)to which candidates from this parish 
were taken. The to:tal number of confirmations was 45 and the aggregate 
of confirmees 2841, making an average of 63 a year. 

In 1892, no less than 139 persons were presented for confirmation 
and on Easter Day in that year there were 204 communicants at the 
Parish Church. 

Again in 1909, there were 133 confirmees. The oldest person to 
be confirmed was presented in her 79th year. 

In the earlier days candidates had to be taken either to Sheffield 
or Ecclesfield. 

The Registers for 1867- 1914 give the following figures:-
Baptisms 7,560. Marriages 1,140. Burials 4,379. 

OFFERTORIES, 1867-1914. 

For the Church Missionary Society, £1,354 2s. 10d. 

For other purposes the offertories taken at Divine Service at 
Bolsterstone in the Parish Church : at Deepcar and Stocksbridge, 

.formerly in the School and later in the Churches, upwards of £10,000. 

It is to be remembered that it is only within quite recent years 
that offertories have been taken at all the Sunday Services. 
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R~vd. William R~ginald Wilson, 
M.A. 

C u RATE 1862-1866 A~D V I CAR 1867- 1914 

OF THE PARISI-I OF BOLSTERSTONE; 

.-\t .SO 

CANON OF YORK AND PREBENDARY OF L ANGTOFT 

IN YoRK MINSTEr.:; 

PROCTOR I N CONVOCATION J\)[D R URAL DEAN 

OF EccLESFIELD-

I 
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